## INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal from an order of the Jefferson County Circuit Court reversing the result of an election contest trial conducted by the Harpers Ferry Town Council (the “Trial Court”) concerning certain votes cast in a recent municipal election.<sup>1</sup> In doing so, the Circuit Court broadly ignored or rejected the Trial Court’s key factual findings by displacing credibility determinations and reweighing testimony from a cold transcript, and cast aside binding precedent of this Court. As a result, the Circuit Court itself must now be reversed.

As is often the case in small towns, the June 11, 2019 municipal election in Harpers Ferry was hotly contested—and close. Nonetheless, the results were immediately ascertained. In accordance with the Secretary of State’s *2019 Best Practices Guide for Municipal Canvass*,<sup>2</sup> the Board of Canvassers conducted the canvass and declared the results. Respondent McGee, a losing candidate for a council seat, sought a recount. The results didn’t change. The Board then formally certified the election.

On the last possible day to do so, Respondents Case and McGee commenced this election contest under the unusual provisions of West Virginia Code § 3-7-6. In their notice of contest (essentially, a complaint), Respondents demanded that five provisional ballots cast by specific persons should be counted, and that four other

---

<sup>1</sup> W. Va. Code § 3-7-6 (“[T]he governing body of the municipality is the judge of any contest of a municipal election.”).

<sup>2</sup> This public document may be accessed at the following link:  
<https://sos.wv.gov/FormSearch/Elections/Informational/Municipal%20Canvassing%20Manual.pdf>

ballots, also cast by specific persons, were wrongly counted and should be thrown out. Respondents' allegations were based on the residency status of those specific voters. By the morning of the contest trial, however, Respondents abandoned everything but their claim that four of the provisional ballots should be counted.

At trial, Respondents—who bore the burden of proof to overturn a certified election—presented testimony from only three of the four voters whose provisional ballots Respondents sought to count, as well as an employee of the Jefferson County Clerk. Petitioners' counsel cross-examined the witnesses and called some of their own. Both sides introduced a handful of exhibits. As it turned out, each of the provisional voters who testified admitted that they *knew* they had registered in a neighboring municipality—that is, *not* in Harpers Ferry—and so registered *under oath*. A few weeks after the trial, the Trial Court entered its findings of fact and conclusions of law, which addressed the record presented to them, made evidentiary weight and credibility determinations, and ultimately affirmed the decision of the Board of Canvassers by declining to count the four disputed provisional ballots.

Respondents thereafter invoked their statutory right to appeal the Trial Court's decision to the local Circuit Court—an appeal that this Court's precedent makes clear is circumscribed, especially as to the factual findings of the Trial Court. However, following briefing and oral argument, the Circuit Court got the standard of review backwards—effectively adopting *Respondents' perspective* on the evidence as to the four disputed ballots—and issued an order reversing the Trial Court's decision not to count them.

Now, this Court should restore the well-supported decision of the Trial Court, which—unlike the Circuit Court—“ha[d] original and *exclusive* jurisdiction to hear and decide contested elections involving the selection of municipal officers.”<sup>3</sup> This is not a case that requires this Court to create new syllabus points or decide which result most advances “democratic values.” Rather, this is simply a case about whether the Circuit Court correctly applied the deferential standard of review that this Court has reaffirmed time and again. It is enough that this Court hold that the Circuit Court, acting as the intermediate appellate court, failed to “give the [Trial Court’s] factual determinations the same sort of deference that appellate courts generally give to fact-finder tribunals—disturbing such determinations *only* when they are arbitrary, capricious, or clearly wrong.”<sup>4</sup> This, in short, is a standard of review case. And the outcome here should not be close.

For these reasons and those that follow, this Court should reverse the Circuit Court’s decision and restore the decision of the Trial Court, whose factual findings underlying its decision were definitely not “arbitrary, capricious, or clearly wrong.”

### QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Unlike the other provisional voters in this case, provisional Voter [REDACTED] failed to appear before the Trial Court to testify. Based on her absence and the lack of any other competent evidence concerning her actual residency, the Trial

---

<sup>3</sup> Syl. Pt. 8, *State ex rel. Peck v. City Council of City of Montgomery*, 150 W. Va. 580, 582, 148 S.E.2d 700, 703 (1966) (emphasis added).

<sup>4</sup> *State ex rel. Bowling v. Greenbrier Cty. Comm’n*, 212 W. Va. 647, 649, 575 S.E.2d 257, 259 (2002) (emphasis added)

Court found that Respondents failed to present competent, credible evidence that Voter ██████ had a “physical presence in [Harpers Ferry] and intend[ed] to remain there for the foreseeable future”—a legal requirement to count her provisional ballot. Did the Circuit Court err by holding that the Trial Court’s factual determination was “arbitrary, capricious, or clearly wrong”? **Yes.**

2. Respondents conveniently blamed the West Virginia Department of Motor Vehicles for the alleged errors in the voter registration of the four voters who cast the disputed provisional ballots. But Respondents relied entirely on the admitted speculation of a single county clerk employee and failed to call *any witnesses* from the DMV or present other competent testimony to support this allegation. As a result, the Trial Court made the factual determination that Respondents failed to carry their burden to show the nature, source, or cause of the alleged registration errors, which showed the provisional voters were registered in another municipality and precinct beyond the borders of Harpers Ferry. Did the Circuit Court err by holding that the Trial Court’s factual determination on this score was “arbitrary, capricious, or clearly wrong”? **Yes.**

3. A person is “duly registered” for a municipal election only when his or her registration shows that he or she resides in that municipality. Before the Trial Court, Respondents stipulated that none of the four challenged voters were, in fact, registered to vote within the Corporation of Harpers Ferry at the appropriate time. Relying on binding opinions from this Court, the Trial Court concluded that knowingly registering to vote in the wrong municipality—under oath, no less—is no



mere “technical error” that may be disregarded. Did the Circuit Court err in not applying this Court’s precedent and concluding that knowingly registering to vote in the wrong municipality and precinct is an excusable error? **Yes.**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### I. The election and contest trial.

On June 11, 2019, the Corporation of Harpers Ferry held a municipal election for, among other offices, five at-large council seats. App. 002. Petitioners Johnson, Thompson, and Humes won reelection to the council. Respondents Case and McGee lost.<sup>5</sup> At Respondent McGee’s request, the Board of Canvassers conducted a recount, which confirmed the results of the municipal election as previously declared. *Id.* Thereafter, the Board formally certified the election results on June 28. On June 29, the incoming members of the Town Council were sworn in. *Id.* Those members, including Petitioners Johnson, Thompson, and Humes, still hold their offices.

On July 8, Respondents Case and McGee filed a notice of election contest under W. Va. Code § 3-7-6, challenging their lost elections. App. 002, 202. In the notice, Respondents alleged that five uncounted provisional ballots should have been counted and four counted ballots should not have been counted at all. *Id.* at 207–08. By the morning of the election contest trial, however, Respondents abandoned all of their original requests for relief except as to four provisional ballots they say should have been counted: those of voters [REDACTED] G. [REDACTED] L.

---

<sup>5</sup> Petitioner Yost also lost, but she did not file an election contest. She was, however, named as a contestee, or election contest party-defendant, by Respondents Case and McGee in this proceeding. *See* App. 203.

██████████ and ██████████ *Id.* at 038. Indeed, it was only in opening statements for the trial that Respondents conceded they were no longer seeking to count the provisional ballot of Voter ██████████ *See id.*

**The Election Contest Trial.** The election contest trial took place on August 24, before the Town Council acting as Trial Court. *See* W. Va. Code § 3-7-6 (“The provisions of this section apply to all elections, including municipal elections, except that the governing body of the municipality is the judge of any contest of a municipal election.”); Syl. Pt. 8, *State ex rel. Peck v. City Council of City of Montgomery*, 150 W. Va. 580, 582, 148 S.E.2d 700, 703 (1966) (“The municipal council has original and exclusive jurisdiction to hear and decide contested elections involving the selection of municipal officers.”).<sup>6</sup> Counsel for the parties presented evidence for the record, took sworn testimony from live witnesses, made arguments, and thereafter submitted proposed orders.<sup>7</sup> *See generally* App. 028–177.

Respondents called four witnesses: Nikki Painter, an employee of the Jefferson County Clerk’s Office for elections, and Voters G. ██████████ L. ██████████ and ██████████ Petitioners’ counsel cross-examined each. Although Respondents told the Trial Court in opening statements that they would hear testimony from Voter

---

<sup>6</sup> Under governing ordinances, the “Town Council” is defined as “the governing body of the town” and “consists of” five Councilmembers, plus the Mayor and the Recorder. Harpers Ferry Ordinance 11.01; *id.* at 11.02. The Mayor and Recorder “have votes as members of the Town Council.” *Id.* 111.09. Thus, when all officials take part, a majority of Town Council requires at least four votes.

<sup>7</sup> At the contest trial, counsel for both sides agreed to preserve objections without requiring the lay judges on the Trial Court to rule on each by vote of the tribunal and to otherwise streamline the proceedings. *See* App. 048.

██████ she did not show up to vouch for her ballot. After Respondents rested, Petitioners' counsel called Respondents themselves to elicit testimony as to their (lack of) standing to bring the contest in the first place. App. 115–32. Petitioners' counsel also called Kevin Carden, the Town Recorder, to testify as a fact witness given his role as the municipality's election supervisor. *Id.* 132–40. Although present, Mr. Carden refused to be sworn or testify. *Id.* 138–40.

**The Trial Court's Decision.** A little over two weeks later, the Trial Court issued its findings of fact and conclusions of law resolving the election contest. *See* App. 001–012. After making credibility determinations and weighing the evidence, the Trial Court concluded that, under governing law, the Board of Canvassers was correct in declining to count the four disputed provisional ballots. *See id.*

As to whether Voter ██████ provisional ballot should have been counted, the Trial Court found as follows: “The Contesters did not present any testimony from ██████ ██████ No competent evidence was presented concerning Ms. ██████ residency. Nor was any competent evidence presented concerning the nature or source of the alleged voter registration error affecting the official voter registration record of Ms. ██████ App. 005.

Although some evidence about the residency of three of the provisional voters was presented through their testimony, the Trial Court made several findings concerning the alleged DMV registration errors affecting those persons. The Trial Court found that “[d]espite the suspicions” of Respondents' first witness, “Ms. Painter testified that neither she nor anyone else in her office ever spoke to any

representative of the DMV to investigate the source of the alleged registration error.” App. 004. And since Respondents (without explanation) failed to call anyone with personal knowledge of the alleged registration error, including anyone from the DMV, the Trial Court found that Respondents “presented no competent evidence from the DMV concerning the nature, source, or cause of the alleged voter registration errors allegedly affecting the official voter registration records of G[.] [REDACTED] L[.] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] and [REDACTED] App. 005.

Applying these findings, the Trial Court concluded that under state law, the Board of Canvassers was right not to count Voter [REDACTED] ballot because there was no evidence presented that she was domiciled or properly registered in Harpers Ferry at the proper time. App. 005, 007. The Trial Court also concluded that the Board of Canvassers correctly declined to count the provisional ballots of Voters G. [REDACTED] L. [REDACTED] and [REDACTED] because, like Voter [REDACTED] their registrations reflected residence in the neighboring municipality of Bolivar. *Id.* 010. Not only that, but these voters had long *known* that their registrations showed a Bolivar residence and ability to vote in the Bolivar, but not Harpers Ferry. *See id.* 004. Yet they did nothing to fix the allegedly wrong registration until *after* the election that is the subject of this challenge—just in time for this election contest. *See id.* 054-56.

In light of Respondents’ failure to provide any competent evidence concerning why these voters had registered in the neighboring municipality, the Trial Court was compelled by the record and the law to affirm the Board of Canvassers’ decision as to all four disputed provisional ballots. App. 010.

Finally, the Trial Court made findings as to standing: “The Contesters presented no evidence that Nancy Singleton Case provided any written request for a recount within 48 hours of the declaration of election. Nor did the Contesters present any evidence that Ms. Case paid the required bond concerning any recount request. Ms. Case’s sworn allegations otherwise in the Notice of Contest leads the Town Council to find that Ms. Case’s testimony is inconsistent and not credible.” App. 005. As a result, the Trial Court concluded—again based on binding election law—that Respondent Case lacked standing to challenge her lost election. *Id.* 006.

## **II. The Circuit Court’s intermediate appellate decision.**

Nearly three weeks after the Trial Court issued its decision resolving this election contest, Respondents Case and McGee initiated the statutory appellate review process by filing an appeal with the local Circuit Court. *See* W. Va. Code § 3-7-7; App. 215. Following expedited briefing and oral argument, the Circuit Court issued an order reversing the Trial Court’s (and Board of Canvassers’) decision to not count the four disputed provisional ballots. *See id.* 319.

As to the four provisional ballots, the Circuit Court first found that the Trial Court should have given more “credit” to “the information provided by [] Painter as evidence of whether or not a technical error resulted in her having left the names of these four voters out of the Harpers Ferry Poll Book.” App. 326. After recounting Painter’s testimony and finding it competent, the Circuit Court concluded that “[it] was clearly against the weight of the evidence and manifestly wrong for the [Trial Court] to have listened to the undisputed testimony of [Painter] and not to have reached this conclusion.” *Id.* 327. After surveying testimony from Respondents’

view, the Circuit Court held that it was a “mistak[e]” for the Trial Court to have “focused on a need to hear from a DMV representative,” and that the Trial Court “ignored the totality of the circumstances” concerning the provisional voters’ registration reflecting a right to vote in another precinct outside the boundaries of Harpers Ferry. *Id.*

As for Voter ██████ no-show, the Circuit Court also found that Painter’s testimony about ██████ registration through the DMV, combined with the “fact that she appeared in Harpers Ferry on [election day] to vote” and had been “certified” to be included as a candidate in the election was “sufficient evidence” on which the Trial Court “*could have and should have* concluded Voter ██████ was a resident of Harpers Ferry at the time” she cast her provisional ballot. App. 328.

Next, the Circuit Court criticized the Trial Court for following what the Trial Court believed to be an on-point decision of this Court, *Galloway v. Common Council of City of Kenova*.<sup>8</sup> App. 331. The Trial Court concluded that, based on *Galloway*, the alleged registration errors did not constitute an excusable technical error under statute. In the Circuit Court’s view, the Trial Court was wrong to rely on this Court’s decision because that decision “predates” certain more recent voter registration laws—even though this Court has never overturned or recognized the abrogation of *Galloway*. *Id.*

---

<sup>8</sup> 133 W. Va. 446, 57 S.E.2d 881 (1949).

Finally, as to the issue of standing, the Circuit Court affirmed the Trial Court's decision holding that Respondent Case lacked standing to bring this election contest in the first place. App. 325.

On the same day that the Circuit Court entered its intermediate appellate decision, Petitioners filed a notice of appeal in this Court invoking the statutory jurisdiction of this Court to review the decision of the Circuit Court. *See* W. Va. Code § 3-7-7 ("From the decision of the circuit court, an appeal shall lie to the supreme court of appeals, as in other cases. . . ."); *see, e.g., State ex rel. Bowling v. Greenbrier Cty. Comm'n*, 212 W. Va. 647, 575 S.E.2d 257 (2002).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Throughout its decision, the Circuit Court failed to follow this Court's repeated admonitions that while sitting as an appellate court reviewing election contest decisions, a Circuit Court "must give the [Trial Court's] factual determinations the same sort of deference that appellate courts generally give to fact-finder tribunals—disturbing such determinations *only* when they are arbitrary, capricious, or clearly wrong." *State ex rel. Bowling v. Greenbrier Cty. Comm'n*, 212 W. Va. 647, 649, 575 S.E.2d 257, 259 (2002) (emphasis added). In this case, the Circuit Court's error below—casting aside the credibility and evidentiary weight determinations of the Trial Court, which saw and heard witnesses testify live—is precisely the same type of error that led to the reversal of the circuit court in *Bowling*.

Specifically, the Circuit Court substituted its view of the evidence in deciding that Voter [REDACTED] ballot—despite her failing to even show up to testify about her

domicile or registration—should be counted after all. It also overruled the Trial Court’s findings in determining that Respondents presented sufficient competent and *credible* evidence to explain why the four voters’ registrations, each of which listed them as voters in the neighboring municipality of Bolivar (and different precinct)—not Harpers Ferry—were mere technical errors that could be overlooked.

Finally, in the event this Court concludes that some or all of the disputed ballots must be counted, this Court must make clear that because Respondent Case lacked standing to contest her loss in the first place, she is entitled to receive no additional votes from the ballots that are counted. In addition to the candidates who were made parties to this contest as contestees, only Respondent McGee as a proper contester is entitled to any votes that are tallied in her favor following the opening of the provisional ballots.

#### **STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT**

Oral argument is unnecessary because this case is on expedited review and the dispositive issues have been “authoritatively decided.” W. Va. R. App. P. 18(a). Should this Court believe that oral argument may be helpful, argument under Rule 19 would be appropriate. W. Va. R. App. P. 19(a).



## ARGUMENT

- I. **The Circuit Court erred by substituting its own factual findings for those of the Trial Court.**
  - A. **The Trial Court correctly concluded that the losing candidates failed to satisfy their burden of proof to overturn the Board of Canvassers' decision not to count the four disputed ballots.**

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