DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

FILE COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

DOCKET NO. 19-1018

JAN - 6 2020

HARDWICK SMITH JOHNSON, CHARLOTTE WARD THOMPSON. MARJORIE FLINN YOST, BARBARA HUMES,

Individual Contestees-Respondents Below, Petitioners

v.

NANCY CASE SINGLETON and DEBORAH A. MCGEE,

Individual Contestors-Petitioners Below, Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF AND CROSS-ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Gregory A. Bailey, Esq. (WVSB #7957)
J. Daniel Kirkland, Esq. (WVSB #12598)
Arnold & Bailey, PLLC
208 N. George Street
Charles Town, WV 25443
304.725-2002 (t)
304.725.0282 (f)
gbailey@arnoldandbailey.com
dkirkland@arnoldandbailey.com
Counsel for Respondents

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In the present case the Jefferson County Circuit Court correctly held that each of the four (4) Provisional Ballot Voters was properly registered to vote in their respective municipalities by virtue of their voter registration and that a technical error, omission and oversight by the DMV's address designation caused each provisional ballot voter to be listed in the Bolivar Poll Book by the County Clerk's Office. It is uncontroverted that each of the four (4) Provisional Ballot Voters were verified residents of Harpers Ferry at the address to which they were registered on election day. It is further uncontroverted that each and every Provisional Ballot Voter was a Harpers Ferry resident for at least 30 days prior to the June 11, 2019, municipal election. Even the most cursory of considerations would have enabled the Board of Canvassers, and ultimately the governing body (acting as the election contest tribunal) who heard both the sworn testimony of the voters and the explanation of the technical error, omission and oversight from the Chief Deputy Clerk in charge of voter registration to reasonably ascertain that the provisional voters absence from the Harpers

Ferry Poll Book was the result of a technical error, omission and oversight. Clear statutory law instructs each of the four provisional ballots therefore should be tallied. As duly registered voters, they were each respectively entitled to cast a vote in the Harpers Ferry municipal election and have their vote count. This governing body has improperly disenfranchised these voters by refusing to tally their votes.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Respondents agree with Petitioners that this matter is under expedited review and that a timely ruling is necessary; however, Respondents disagree that the dispositive issues have been "authoritatively decided." Thus, if this Court, in its discretion, decides that this matter is proper for oral argument, Respondents respectfully submit that oral argument under Rule 20 of the West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure is proper because this case presents issues of fundamental public importance and matters of first impression following the enactment of the statewide single voter registration. W.Va. R. App. P. 20.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Circuit Court had plenary authority to decide this election contest on the merits. Specifically, W.Va. Code § 3–7–7 governs the contest of elections and their appeal to the circuit court. It provides, in pertinent part, the following procedural standard and standard of review for this Court to follow on appeal of this election contest:

When such appeal is taken to the circuit court, as hereinbefore provided, it shall be heard and determined upon the original papers, evidence, depositions and records filed before and considered by the county court [county commission], and the circuit court shall decide the contest upon the merits.

Further, in State ex rel. Bowling v. Greenbrier County, Comm'n, 212 W.Va. 647, 575 S.E.2d 257 (2002), the Court stated:

While the appellate court may examine the record in the review of election contests in order to reach an independent conclusion, it merely determines whether the conclusions of law are warranted by the findings of fact, and it will not, as a general rule, disturb findings of fact on conflicting evidence unless such findings are manifestly wrong or against the weight of the evidence.

Finally, this Court reviews rulings on matters of law de novo. Id.

ARGUMENT OF LAW

The West Virginia Supreme Court declared long ago that fairness, purity and freedom of elections are essential to free government. *Ralston v. Meyer*, 12 S.E. 783 (1891). That pronouncement which dates back to 1891 holds true today. W.Va. Code 3-1-3 provides that citizens of the state shall be entitled to vote at all elections held within the municipalities in which they respectively reside. An election that does not count all votes of its citizens fails to satisfy the criteria of fairness and is not a free election.

Moreover, the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has correctly observed that when considering election contest proceedings, a court should "remain ever mindful of the paramount principle that election laws are to be construed in favor of enfranchisement, not disenfranchisement." See State ex rel. Sowards v. County Comm'n of Lincoln County, 196 W.Va. 739, 750, 474 S.E.2d 919, 930 (1996). See Afran v. County of Somerset, 244 N.J.Super. 229, 232, 581 A.2d 1359, 1361 (1990)("[E]lection laws must be liberally construed to effectuate the overriding public policy in favor of the enfranchisement of voters."); see also James Appeal, 377 Pa. 405, 407, 105 A.2d 64, 65 (1954) (In construing election laws, while courts must strictly enforce all provisions to prevent fraud, an overriding concern must be to be flexible in order to favor the right to vote).

A. The Circuit Court Correctly Held That Each of the Four Provisional Voters Was A Duly Registered Harpers Ferry Resident and That Their Votes Must be Tallied.

1. The Circuit Court Correctly Held that the Provisional Voters Were Left Out of the Harpers Ferry Poll Book Due to Technical Error, Omission and Oversight.

The polar star for guidance in an election contest related to a citizens right to vote in an election is that the election statute should be liberally construed in order that the will of the people in the matter of choosing their public officers may not be defeated by merely technical objections. State ex rel. Palumbo v. County Court of Kanawha County, 150 S.E.2d 887, 151 W.Va. 61. (1961). This paramount principal is codified by statute in W.Va. Code § 3-1-41(e), which provides that:

Provisional ballots may not be counted by the election officials. The county commission shall, on its own motion, at the time of canvassing of the election returns, sit in session to determine the validity of any challenges according to the provisions of this chapter. If the county commission determines that the challenges are unfounded, each provisional ballot of each challenged voter, if otherwise valid, shall be counted and tallied together with the regular ballots cast in the election. The county commission, as the board of canvassers, shall protect the privacy of each provisional ballot cast. The county commission shall disregard technical errors, omissions or oversights if it can reasonably be ascertained that the challenged voter was entitled to vote. (emphasis added).

During the Circuit Court proceeding the following exchange took place between the Court and counsel for the Petitioners because the Court noted the governing body failed to make findings related to the actual residences of the voters:

The Court: Let's not look at the issue of residence yet because one of the things that I think is lacking from this order is that they never make any findings of fact of or conclusions about residences other than Ms. isn't that accurate? They don't make a specific finding as to any of the three other voters.

Mr. Donovan: I think when they recited in the findings of fact the testimony of the other three voters as to residence and left that it was undisputed, I think that is a finding that they agreed with them, and I think the conclusions of law as to those three voters support that that was their finding.

JA. 295-296. Thus, if residency in Harpers Ferry was not in dispute, the sole reason that these registered voters were required to cast provisional ballots was due to uncontroverted technical

errors, omissions and oversight that caused (through no fault of the voter) each to be placed in the Bolivar Poll Book and omitted from the Harpers Ferry Poll Book. Contrary to the disingenuous findings cited by the Petitioners, the evidence makes clear that the Provisional Ballot Voters were all duly registered voters and citizens residing within the corporate boundaries of Harpers Ferry on the date of the Harpers Ferry municipal election. The Jefferson County Chief Deputy of Elections who is in charge of voter registration, Nikki Painter, testified and explained the technical error: how and why it occurred and how it was remedied as soon as it came to light. During the election contest hearing, Nikki Painter, testified that the flawed Bolivar designation of the Provisional Voters' registration records was caused by the DMV's erroneous designation that the voters lived on "West Washington Street." This seemingly insignificant distinction resulted in each Provisional Ballot Voter being placed in Precinct 15 (Bolivar) rather than Precinct 14 (Harpers Ferry) according to Ms. Painter.

Importantly, the impact of the distinction was lost on the voters who were each completely unaware of the technical error, omission and oversight affecting their voter registration until the time they attempted to cast their ballots. There is no evidence to the contrary, yet the majority on the lower tribunal concluded that the votes cast by their citizens should not be tallied based solely on their absence from the poll book, which was clearly the result of technical error. In further support of the misguided attempt to disenfranchise voters, the Petitioners now shockingly suggest that the Provisional Ballot Voters committed voter fraud by providing false information to the DMV under oath. See Pet. Brief, P. 24, Fn. 15. This assertion is incredulous, offensive, and further

serves to erode any legitimacy that still remains in the Petitioners' flawed attempt to disenfranchise the voting citizens of Harpers Ferry.²

Based upon the evidence presented during the election contest, it is clear that the improper registration of the Provisional Ballot Voters in Precinct 14 (Bolivar) was the result of a technical error, omission, or oversight caused by the DMV. The Board of Canvassers, and the election contest tribunal, could have easily ascertained that the challenged voters were Harpers Ferry residents who were registered to vote. They chose instead to disenfranchise these voters for their own political expediency. As the Circuit Court correctly held, the provisional ballots should have been tallied. To find otherwise requires a complete disregard and misinterpretation of the law which seeks to enfranchise voters and instructs that technical errors, omissions and oversights should be ignored to allow for voter participation. Yet, the governing body of Harpers Ferry acting as the election tribunal did the opposite. Accordingly, the well-reasoned opinion of the Circuit Court reversing the lower tribunal should be affirmed by this Court and the provisional ballots should be counted forthwith.

2. The Circuit Court Correctly Held That Sufficient Evidence of Registration Was Presented during the Election Contest Trial.

As the Circuit Court correctly found, sufficient evidence of the voter registration and residency of was established during the election contest trial to reasonably ascertain that her ballot cast in the June 11, 2019, should have been tallied. Contrary to the Petitioners' assertion, the Circuit Court did not rely on any *new* factual findings to make this finding.

Rather, based upon the record below, the Circuit Court held the following:

² In fact, during oral argument in the Circuit Court, counsel for Petitioner did not dispute that each and every Provisional Ballot Voter listed their city of residency as Harpers Ferry, not Bolivar. J.A. 299-300. The only error on their part was acquiescing to the inclusion of the word "West" in their proper street address. Now Petitioners suggest that such acquiescence is somehow voter fraud because as they repeatedly point out, it was done so "under oath."

The Tribunal erred when it concluded that because did not testify that there was no competent evidence concerning Ms. residency of the nature or source or error affecting her voter registration. The Tribunal ignored the was duly registered to vote testimony of Ms. Painter who testified that Ms. and had done so at the DMV. This Court finds that Ms. Painter's testimony that did register through the DMV, in addition to the fact that she appeared in Harpers Ferry on June 11, 2019, to vote and had been certified by the Town Council to be included as a candidate in the election for Town Council in the June 11, 2019, election and was certified in the same election as having received votes as a candidate, is sufficient evidence on which the Tribunal could have and should have concluded Voter was a resident of Harpers Ferry at the time she cast her vote on June 11, 2019. While this Court does find sufficient evidence in the record to conclude that all four voters were residents of Harpers Ferry, this Court does believe that the Tribunal erred in concluding that the Contesters must prove both that the voters were "duly registered" and that they resided in the municipality at the time of the election. In fact, once the Contesters proved that the voters were "duly registered" at the time of the election, they were presumed to be an eligible voter until proven otherwise. That is (presumably) why a person who is "duly registered," and appears to offer his vote, is not asked any continuing questions about residency at the time the vote is cast or required to show any proof of residency.

Harpers Ferry municipal election. Indeed, she was certified as receiving fifteen (15) votes by the Board of Canvassers, who simultaneously rejected her provisional ballot. Ms. resided at 887 Washington Street at the time she registered to vote, at the time of her notice of candidacy for Harper Ferry town council, and at the time of the June 11, 2019, Harpers Ferry election. Ms. was incorrectly listed in voting Precinct 15 (Bolivar) due to a mistaken address record of 887 West Washington Street at the time she voted and was required to cast a provisional ballot. Id. at 214. Nikki Painter testified that was found to be a Harpers Ferry resident at the time of the vote, and that the official County voting records were changed to properly reflect her Harpers Ferry residency. Registration records indicate that her correct address was subsequently verified.

In the face of this evidence, Petitioners' contend that the governing body correctly concluded that no competent evidence established voter registration and residency. What more did the Petitioners' hope to ascertain if, in fact, had testified? If the cross-examination were consistent with the cross-examination of the other provisional ballot voters, it presumably would have focused on her proper street address, as confirmed by Nicki Painter, or better yet, seek to challenge the current status of her social media accounts. None of this would have or should have disputed the sworn testimony of Nicki Painter. Moreover, the Trial Court, composed of the Town Council and a majority of the Board of Canvassers, was undeniably aware of Ms. residency and her candidacy for the Town Council to reasonably ascertain that she was a duly registered voter in the town of Harpers Ferry.

Finally, Petitioner's gloss over the fact that not only did remain on the ballot for Town Council, but more importantly, appeared on June 11, 2019, to exercise her right to vote in the town election. To Respondents' knowledge, no member of town council or the Petitioners have alleged a case of voter fraud against Ms. by alleging she was not a Harpers Ferry resident. Because it is indisputable that she was.

The Circuit Court did not rely on new factual findings to determine the proper voter registration of and further, did not commit reversible error by holding that "it was clearly against the weight of the evidence and manifestly wrong for the Tribunal to have listened to the undisputed testimony of the Chief Deputy Clerk of Elections and not to have reached this conclusion." JA-327. Accordingly, this Honorable Court should affirm the ruling of the Circuit Court.

3. The Circuit Court Correctly Held That the Trial Court Erroneously Relied on the Galloway Case to Conclude the Provisional Voters Were Not Duly Registered Because Galloway Predated the Federal and State Statutory Law Changes That Provide for a Single State-Wide Voter Registry.

The Circuit Court was correct when it found that the Trial Court's reliance on *Galloway* in the present case was misplaced. In its order, the Trial Court opined that regardless of the incorrect address registration made by the DMV or mistake by the Clerk's Poll Book designation, "such registration errors are not the type of technical error that should be disregarded under the law." JA-010. This conclusion is without merit and flies in the face of statutory law. The governing body sought to rely on *Galloway* for the proposition that the four provisional voters were not registered to vote because they did not appear in the poll book. In doing so, the governing body ignored that the voter registration system in West Virginia is significantly different than it was when Galloway was decided in 1949.

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